Monsoon low-pressure systems the precipitation response to atmospheric warming

Silje Lund Sørland



Dissertation for the degree philosophiae doctor (PhD) at the University of Bergen

2015

Dissertation date: April 24

Acknowledgements

The last 4.5 years have been challenging but also a great experience, and I'm so happy that I now have managed to finish up my PhD! This would not have happened without help and encouragement from many people. First and foremost I would like to thank my adviser Asgeir. He has been very patient and let me pursue my research at my own pace, but his comments and questions along have helped me to stay on the right track. I would also thank my co-adviser Roy Rasmussen for his advice, and for hosting me at NCAR for 5 months. Those months at NCAR improved my research substantially, and I'm very happy for all the help I got there. Especially a big thank you to Changhai for not giving up on me when the WRF results seemed to be bogus.

Further I would thank my office mates Mari and Kajsa, for science related discussions, but also for the non-scientific ones. I will also thank the rest of my colleagues here at GFI, and especially Ellen for being such an inspiring person, shearing Matlab-scripts and for the trips to India. The afternoons on Fabindia would not have been the same without you. I would also acknowledge ResClim for arranging courses and meetings at places I would not else have been visiting, and also for funding my trips to AGU and AOGS.

In the end, I would not have managed this without support from my friends, and especially my family – mamma, pappa, Gunn-Therese. Thanks for being patient with me and for encouragement. And to Kjell Henrik for your care and for all the dinners you have prepared the last months.

Bergen, 3 February 2015 Silje Lund Sørland

Abstract

The monsoon low-pressure systems (LPS) are amongst the most rain bearing synoptic scale systems that develop during the Indian monsoon, and they play a key role in generating extreme rainfall events in central India. This thesis consists of three scientific papers, which are devoted to the monsoon LPS, with focus on the precipitation associated with the systems. The main motivation for this thesis is to understand how the LPS precipitation may change in a warming world.

To examine this issue, a dataset of LPS developing during the Indian monsoon was generated, described in Paper I. A well know tracking algorithm was used to detect the LPS in the ERA-Interim reanalysis during the time period 1979-2010. The LPS that are connected to observed extreme rainfall events are selected, which resulted in a dataset of 39 LPS.

Next, high-resolution, convection-permitting, climate sensitivity simulations were performed on 10 cases chosen from the LPS dataset. Control runs are simulated with unperturbed ERA-Interim initial and lateral boundary conditions (LBC). Perturbed runs follow a surrogate climate change approach, in which a uniform temperature perturbation is specified to the LBC but the large-scale flow and relative humidity is unchanged. The difference between the control and perturbed simulations are therefore mainly due to the imposed warming and moisture changes as well as feedbacks to the synoptic scale flow.

The change in the mean precipitation following the LPS is described in Paper II, and Paper III focus on the change in the short-duration extreme precipitation released over central India and the runoff response. The results clearly show that in a warmer and more humid atmosphere, the LPS can produce more precipitation, precipitate with a higher precipitation rate and also bring precipitation further into the Indian continent. Based on these results we conclude that there may be an increased risk of more severe flood events in central India. The more than 2 x Clausius-Clapeyron scaling response in the precipitation is explained by the imposed specific humidity increase, a dynamic feedback giving stronger upward motions and a thermodynamic feedback decreasing the atmospheric stability. In the warmer runs the LPS are more intense with a higher propagation speed. The intensification of the storms seems to be interpretable in terms of the conditional instability of second kind mechanism: condensational heating increases along with lowlevel convergence and vertical velocity in response to temperature warming and moisture increases, and as a result the surface low deepens.

The results presented show that the precipitation associated with LPS are very sensitive to an increase in the atmospheric temperature and subsequent moisture increase. Changes in the atmospheric moisture content as a result of temperature warming are together with dynamical and thermodynamical feedbacks, affecting both the precipitation intensity and frequency.

List of papers

Paper I

Sørland, S. and A. Sorteberg (2015). The dynamic and thermodynamic structure of monsoon low-pressure systems during extreme rainfall events. Submitted to TELLUS A.

Paper II

Sørland, S., A. Sorteberg, C. Liu and R. Rasmussen (2015). The precipitation response in climate sensitivity experiments of monsoon low-pressure systems over India. *Submitted to Journal of Climate*.

Paper III

Sørland, S. and A. Sorteberg (2015). Low-pressure systems and extreme precipitation in central India: sensitivity to temperature change. *Submitted to Climate Dynamics.*

CONTENTS

Contents

| 1 | General introduction | | |
|----------|-------------------------------------|--|-----------|
| 2 | Theoretical background | | |
| | 2.1 | The Indian monsoon $\hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots \hdots \ldots \hdots \hdots\hdot$ | 4 |
| | 2.2 | Monsoon low-pressure systems | 11 |
| | 2.3 | Precipitation and climate change | 17 |
| 3 | Data | | 21 |
| 4 | Tools and methods | | 24 |
| | 4.1 | Tracking monsoon LPS | 24 |
| | 4.2 | Dynamical downscaling by using the PGW approach | 27 |
| | 4.3 | Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF) model | 29 |
| 5 | Summary of papers | | 30 |
| 6 | Discussion and future perspective 3 | | |

1 General introduction

With a population of 1.2 billion people today, India is expected to be the most populous country in the world by the mid 21st century (United Nations, 2012). This rapid population growth, together with a changing climate, is a threat to water security in the future (World Bank, 2013). The monsoon is the most dominant mode of atmospheric circulation over South Asia, giving wet summers and dry winters in India. Since up to 80% of the annual precipitation in India falls during the four monsoon months (June-September) (Ding and Sikka, 2006; Tyagi et al., 2012), it is evident that any changes in the intensity or frequency of the precipitation during the monsoon will affect agriculture, energy production and food supply (World Bank, 2013). One of the greatest potential risks to the people of India is therefore related to climate warming and the subsequent changes of the hydrological cycle, which may alter precipitation pattern, evapotranspiration and river flow, with potentially large impacts on the society.

The increase in atmospheric water vapor content with global warming is expected to change the hydrological cycle (e.g. Turner and Annamalai, 2012; IPCC, 2013). Possible increases in frequency and intensity of extreme rainfall events are thought to be one of the major consequences of changes in the hydrological cycle, and may yield a larger risk for severe flood events. The Indian subcontinent is particularly vulnerable to extreme rainfall events, since a large part of the population is poor, the infrastructure and crop yield is easily destructed by heavy precipitation events and early warning systems are not always reaching out to the affected people (World Bank, 2013).

Most of the extreme rainfall events in India occur during the monsoon, where monsoon low-pressure systems (LPS) play a key role in generating extreme rainfall events in the central Indian region (Goswami et al., 2006; Sikka, 2006; Pattanaik and Rajeevan, 2010). These synoptic scale systems, which are embedded in the large-scale monsoon flow, develop over India and the adjoining ocean and propagate in a northwestward direction towards the Indian continent (Saha and Sanders, 1981; Yoon and Chen, 2005; Sikka, 2006; Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan, 2010). The LPS are categorized by the strength of the surface wind, where the most common ones are the weaker lows and more intense depressions (Tyagi et al., 2012). The LPS bring moisture into the Indian continent, which is released as precipitation along the propagation path. Recently, severe flood hazard have occurred in association with LPS, where the LPS brought high-moisture content into the region where the extreme rainfall occurred (e.g. the Pakistan flooding in 2010 (Houze et al., 2011); North-Indian flooding in 2012 (Joseph et al., 2014; Dube et al., 2014)).

The response of climate warming on the monsoon LPS remains an open research question. Several studies have reported a decrease in the frequency of the stronger monsoon depressions and an increase in the frequency of the weaker monsoon lows the last decades (Jadhav et al., 2009; Ajayamohan et al., 2010; Prajeesh et al., 2013). However, Cohen and Boos (2014) posed the question whether there have been a decreasing trend in the depressions, since they do not see a trend in the frequency of depressions in the distinctive LPS datasets obtained by using different automated methods. Studies suggest that storms in a warmer climate will be more intense with higher rainfall rates, because of the feedback latent heat may have on the storm (Trenberth et al., 2003; Westra et al., 2014). To know how sensitive the monsoon LPS are to the increase in the atmospheric temperature, would be of interest to the whole Indian community. The most important aspect is the sensitivity in the precipitation, since the Indian community is very dependent on the precipitation from the LPS, however, an increase in extreme rainfall events would have large socioeconomic consequences.

Since extremes are not well represented in global climate models, it is a challenge to study how precipitation extremes can change in a warming world. Downscaling global climate models with regional models is an important method when it comes to perform climate impact studies, and is invaluable for the end users (Maraun et al., 2010). However, several studies argue that since the climate models cannot reproduce the current climate accurately, the climate scenario projections are not reliable (e.g. Sabeerali et al., 2014; Sooraj et al., 2014), thus the downscaled projections will be influenced by biases in the climate models. Stowasser et al. (2009) downscaled a 4 times CO_2 scenario with a regional model over South Asia. They found that in the warmer climate, an increase in the number of flood days over central India could occur, as a result of more intense storms developing in the Bay of Bengal (Stowasser et al., 2009). In contrary, in another study the downscaled results suggested that there would be less precipitation in the central Indian region due to fewer depressions developing in the future scenario (Dobler and Ahrens, 2011). Whether the reduced number of LPS in the downscaled results reflects reality, or is due to the lack of ocean-atmosphere coupling in the regional model, is not know.

Objectives

In this thesis the LPS are investigated, where the motivation for the analyses is to understand how sensitive the LPS precipitation is to a warming world. First a dataset of monsoon LPS tracks that are associated with an observed extreme rainfall event over the Indian continent is generated. This is described in Paper I, where the relationship between LPS precipitation intensity and other meteorological parameters is investiated. Next, the sensitivity of LPS precipitation to temperature changes using a pseudo global warming approach on 10 LPS cases from the dataset generated in Paper I is simulated. The pseudo global warming method developed by Schär et al. (1996) consist of adding a temperature perturbation to the boundary conditions driving the regional model. The results are studied with respect to how the precipitation associated with the LPS changes in the warmer climate. It should be emphasized that the method prevents us from investigating the change in the frequency of the LPS, and instead the focus is on the change in the LPS precipitation. In Paper II the change in the mean precipitation associated with the monsoon LPS is studied in the warmer and more humid climate. Paper III focus on the short duration extreme precipitation that is released over the central India region, and the impact it has on the runoff. All simulations are conducted using high-resolution convection permitting simulations.

The main research questions are:

- How are the LPS that are connected to an observed extreme precipitation event represented in the ERA-Interim dataset?
- Which meteorological parameters are important for understanding the variability in the precipitation intensity associated with the monsoon LPS?

- How sensitive is the average precipitation associated with the LPS to an increase in the atmospheric temperature and moisture content?
- How sensitive is the extreme precipitation generated by LPS and associated runoff in the central India region to a warmer and more humid atmosphere?

The structure of this thesis is as follows: A theoretical background is given in section 2, where first the Indian monsoon is briefly described, followed by a more detailed description of the monsoon LPS. The theoretical background section is ended with a review of how the precipitation intensity can change with atmospheric warming. The data used in this thesis are presented in section 3, and the tools and methods are described in section 4. This thesis ends with a summary of the papers (section 5), followed by a discussion and future perspective in section 6.

2 Theoretical background

2.1 The Indian monsoon

Monsoon is a seasonal, atmospheric feature that covers large parts of the tropics, and around 65 % of the worlds population lives in a monsoon climate. The Indian monsoon is part of the South Asian monsoon system, and the monsoon onset over Kerala in southern India is normally in the beginning of June, and then the rainy season last throughout September (June-July-August-September: JJAS). Up to 70-80 % of the annual precipitation comes during these four months (Ding and Sikka, 2006; Tyagi et al., 2012), and the population of India is dependent on the monsoon rainfall for agriculture, industrial and hydropower purposes (Turner and Annamalai, 2012; World Bank, 2013). Figure 1 shows the monthly mean all-India rainfall, and it is clearly seen that most of the precipitation comes in JJAS.

The mean Indian monsoon

There are many ways to define the monsoon, but a traditional way has been the seasonal reversal of the wind direction (Gadgil, 2003). The Indian monsoon can be described as a large land-sea breeze, where the Coriolis force



Figure 1: All-India mean monthly rainfall distribution (1951-2010) from the IMD dataset (described in section 3).

plays a role. Due to the annual variation in the incoming solar radiation and the different heat capacity of land and ocean, an inter-hemispherical circulation system arises. A thermal low develops over the northwestern Indian continent, giving rise to large cross-equatorial pressure gradients between the thermal low and the Mascarene High over the Indian Ocean in the southern hemisphere. This induces low-level winds that blows from the ocean in the winter hemisphere, towards the continent in the summer hemisphere. In the upper part the flow is reversed, blowing from the summer towards the winter hemisphere (e.g. Webster and Fasullo, 2003). The low-level and upper-level wind systems are shown in Figure 2, and the Coriolis force is the reason for why winds are deflected as seen in the figure. The low-level winds bring large amount of moisture from the warm tropical ocean, releasing as precipitation over South Asia. A comparison of the mean JJAS daily precipitation released over India from two different precipitation datasets (ERA-Interim and IMD, described in section 3) is shown in Figure 8, where it is seen large spatial variabilities in the precipitation over India. As a result of forced ascent over mountains and synoptic activity, the west coast, the east-northeast and central India are regions that receive more precipitation than compared to the rest of the country.

The circulation described above is how the Indian monsoon can be consid-



Figure 2: Figure from Houze et al. (2007), where the mean wind during the summer monsoon at 1000hPa (a) at 200hPa (b) superimposed on topography (color shading [km]) is shown. The low-level winds in (a) is blowing from a high-pressure over the Indian Ocean in the southern hemisphere towards the thermal low over Northern India. The upperlevel winds is characterized by strong horizontal shear, with weak winds between the strong westerlies (at ~ $35^{\circ}N$) and easterlies (at ~ $10^{\circ}N$).

ered at the most basic level. However, there are several other mechanisms that also need to be considered to get the full picture of the monsoon system. The importance of the Himalayan and Tibetan Plateau has been studied in both the manner of the poleward extent of the monsoon precipitation, and how an elevated heating source over the continent can be important for the monsoon onset (Boos and Kuang, 2010; Turner and Annamalai, 2012). That the monsoon is part of the seasonal migration of the Intertropical Convergence Zone (ITCZ) is also a way of considering the Indian monsoon (Privé and Plumb, 2007). The monsoon trough is then seen as the northward migration of the Equatorial trough of the ITCZ (Tyagi et al., 2012).

Intraseasonal and inter-annual variations in the monsoon precipitation

The intraseasonal variability and spatial characteristics of the Indian monsoon rainfall can be explained by the intensification or displacement of the monsoon trough (Krishnamurthy and Shukla, 2000), and by the development of different synoptic scale systems (Ding and Sikka, 2006; Tyagi et al., 2012). The latitudinal oscillation of the monsoon trough has been related to the active-break cycle of the monsoon. The active period of the monsoon is when the trough lies over the northern part of India, bringing above normal precipitation to the central Indian region (Krishnamurthy and Shukla, 2000; Ding and Sikka, 2006). As the monsoon trough is shifted towards the foothills of the Himalayas, a break in the rainfall over (central) India is experienced. The temporal variation in the mean precipitation during one monsoon in the central Indian region is shown in Figure 3a, together with and a composite of the precipitation in India during active (Figure 3b) and break (Figure 3c) phases. The dynamics of the active-break cycle during the Indian monsoon is complex, where ocean - atmosphere interactions are suggested to be related to the movement of the convection (e.g. Joseph and Sabin, 2007).

The synoptic system such as mid-tropospheric cyclones, offshore troughs and monsoon low-pressure systems (LPS) are all contributing to distribute precipitation over the Indian continent. Mid-tropospheric cyclones have the maximum strength between 700 and 500hPa and are mostly located over the northeastern Arabian Sea and adjoining lands. The offshore troughs and vortices are found off the west coast of India (Ding and Sikka, 2006;



Figure 3: The active-break cycle. (a) show the variation of the daily rainfall over central India (June - September 2002), where the monsoon was characterized by two long dry spells (breaks), from Rajeevan et al. (2010). Composite of daily rainfall anomalies (mm/day) for JJAS (1901-79) for the active phase (b) and 12 days before, which would correspond to break phases (c), from Krishnamurthy and Shukla (2007).

Tyagi et al., 2012). The monsoon LPS is a collective name for low-pressure systems that mainly develop in the Bay of Bengal and propagate towards the Indian continent. The LPS are the main synoptic systems during the Indian monsoon, and are the key focus of this thesis, and will therefore be described in more detail in section 2.2.

The inter-annual variation of the Indian monsoon rainfall is because of changes in external forcings or internal variations. External forcing is a result of changes in the incoming solar radiation or in the atmospheric concentration of green house gasses or aerosols. Internal variations in the climate

2.1 The Indian monsoon

systems are driven by for instance changes in the snow cover over Eurasia or in variations in sea surface temperatures (SSTs) (Turner and Annamalai, 2012). The equatorial pacific SSTs are negatively correlated with the Indian monsoon rainfall, and this relation is referred to the ENSO-Monsoon interaction¹, and are considered to describe large part of the inter-annual variability of the Indian monsoon rainfall (e.g. Lau, 2003).

Has there been a change in the monsoon rainfall?

Even though there is clear evidence that the greenhouse-gas concentrations have increased since the pre-industrial time (IPCC, 2013), there is considerable uncertainty regarding the trends in the rainfall in Indian during the last century (Turner and Annamalai, 2012). Observations show large spatial (see Figure 8) and temporal variability in the rainfall over India (Guhathakurta and Rajeevan, 2008; Pattanaik and Rajeevan, 2010). Whereas some studies have noted that the all-India rainfall is quite robust and shows no significant trend over the last decades (e.g Goswami et al., 2006; Guhathakurta and Rajeevan, 2008), others have reported a declining trend in the all-India rainfall and parts of India since the 1950s (see the review by Turner and Annamalai, 2012). Turner and Annamalai (2012) emphasize that there are large uncertainties since the strength and sign of the trend depend on the region and period of study. Moreover, several studies suggest that there has been an increase in extreme rainfall events over India in recent decades (e.g. Sen Roy and Balling, 2004; Goswami et al., 2006; Rajeevan et al., 2008; Krishnamurthy et al., 2009). It should be stressed that the strength of these trends seems to be dependent on the definition chosen for an extreme rainfall event, and also there are some areas that experience an increase and some a decrease in extreme rainfall events. Figure 4a shows the spatial distribution of significant trends in extreme rainfall events over India, and Figure 4b shows the temporal variability of extreme rainfall in the central Indian region. An increasing trend of more heavy precipitation events in the central Indian region is see in Figure 4b, where a fixed treshold is used to pick out the extreme events. However, by using the 99th percentile as the treshold to pick out extreme rainfall events, there are spatial variabilities in the trend (Figure 4a). In central India there are areas where there is a positive trend,

 $^{^1 {\}rm The}~{\rm SST}$ anomalies in the equatorial pacific are related to the El Niño/Southern Oscillation (ENSO)



Figure 4: Trend in extreme rainfall events. The spatial distribution of grids with a statistical significant trend, where blue indicate a decreasing trend and brown indicate a positive trend, for the frequency of exceedance of the 99th percentile (a). (b) shows the temporal variations of the number of events exceeding the daily rainfall intensity of 150mm ($R \ge 150$ mm/day) in the central Indian region. (a) is from Krishnamurthy et al. (2009) and (b) is from Goswami et al. (2006), and the same time period and data is used in both studies. The red box shown in (a) correspond to the central Indian region considered in (b).

some areas where no significant trend in the extreme rainfall events is found, and areas that have a negative trend. Thus the spread in the trends in rainfall events over India implies that trend analysis is something that should be done very carefully, and it is not easy to draw any conclusions.

Monsoon and climate change

The response of the increase in the greenhouse-gases on the monsoon system is complex. It is expected that the land surfaces will warm more rapidly than the ocean surfaces; therefore the land-sea contrast increases in most regions. However, the monsoon circulation is thought to weaken as the climate warms due to energy balance constraints in the tropical atmosphere (IPCC, 2013). The United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) suggest that these changes in the atmospheric circulation can lead to regional changes in monsoon intensity, area and timing of the monsoon. The increase in the atmospheric temperature is associated with an increase in atmospheric moisture content, which can lead to an increase in total monsoon rainfall even though the strength of the monsoon circulation weakens or does not change. In addition, changes in the land-use and in atmospheric aerosols concentration is also thought to influence the monsoon system (IPCC, 2013).

2.2 Monsoon low-pressure systems

During the Indian monsoon, there are different weather systems that contribute to the total monsoon rainfall. The synoptic scale monsoon lowpressure systems (LPS) are one of the most efficient rain-producing systems developing, and they have been found to produce about half of the Indian monsoon rainfall (Yoon and Chen, 2005). The Indian Meteorological Department (IMD) categorize the LPS based on the surface winds, where the wind strengths in the ranges of up to < 8.5, 8.5-16.5, 17-23.5, 24-31.5 and greater that 32 m/s correspond to systems as lows, depressions, cyclonic storms, severe cyclonic storms and hurricanes (Tyagi et al., 2012). During the monsoon, the LPS do not develop into hurricanes, due to the strong vertical wind shear in the background flow (Tyagi et al., 2012). The thermal structure of the monsoon LPS is characterized by a cold anomaly at lower levels and warm core aloft. Evaporative cooling from the falling precipitation is suggested to generate the low-level cold core. The monsoon LPS have a typical horizontal extent of 1000-2000 km radius, and a well-defined life cycle of 4-7 days. The systems develop in the Bay of Bengal (BoB), the Arabian Sea or over land and normally propagate in a northwestward direction towards the Indian continent (Saha and Sanders, 1981; Yoon and Chen, 2005; Sikka, 2006; Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan, 2010). Figure 5 shows the tracks of the LPS developed during the monsoon in the period 1888-2003. Most of the systems develop in Bay of Bengal, whereas some form over Arabian Sea and land.



Figure 5: The trajectories (blue line) of LPS formed during the monsoon (JJAS) from 1888-2003. The genesis is the red dot, while the termination is the black dot (Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan, 2010).

The evolution of the life cycle for a typical monsoon LPS is shown in Figure 6. It is seen that the low-pressure develops in the BoB and propagates in a northwestward direction towards the Indian continent. From the 18th -19th June the systems covers large parts of central India, with convective cells around the center of the low, mainly located in the southwest sector relative to the low-pressure center. From Figure 6 it is clearly seen that the low-pressure propagate deeply into the Indian continent, and is in this way contributing to distribute precipitation over large parts of India. As there are on average 13-14 LPS developing each monsoon season (Sikka, 2006), it is evident that they are important contributors of the total precipitation during the monsoon.

There are more LPS developing in the active periods than the break periods of the monsoon (Goswami et al., 2003; Krishnamurthy and Shukla, 2007). The paths of the LPS during the active period are clustered along the monsoon trough, therefore the central Indian region receives more pre-



Figure 6: The life evolution of a typical LPS, taken from Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan (2010). The black lines are the 850hPa streamlines [m/s], and the shading is the precipitation [mm/h]. The intensity of the LPS is given at the top of each subfigure (LW: low, DP: depression).



Figure 7: Composite of the daily precipitation [mm/day] for (a) days when LPS are present, during non-LPS days (b), and the difference between the composite of LPS days and non-LPS days (c), taken from Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan (2010). Note the similarity between (c) and Figure 3c, which show the composite of the precipitation anomaly during active phases.

cipitation from these systems than compared to the rest of the continent (Goswami et al., 2003). By performing a composite study of 1520 LPS that developed from 1888-2003 (see Figure 5), Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan (2010) showed that during days when the LPS are present (LPS days), central, southwest and northern part of India receive up to 10 mm more precipitation each day, compared to the rest of the Indian subcontinent. Meanwhile, during days when there are no LPS present, southeast and northeast India receive approximately 6-8 mm more precipitation each day (Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan, 2010), shown in Figure 7.

Multiple studies have reported that the frequency of the weaker LPS (lows) during the Indian monsoon have shown an increasing trend the last decades, while the stronger monsoon LPS (depressions) have experienced a declining trend (Jadhav et al., 2009; Ajayamohan et al., 2010; Prajeesh et al., 2013). It is not obvious why this shift in the intensity of the monsoon LPS is observed, but several mechanisms which are related to climate change and increase in aerosol consentration, are suggested: (1) The increase in the SST in the Bay of Bengal (BoB) is not favorable to intensify the weaker lows into depressions, since the convection is being diminished when the SST is above $29.0^{\circ}C$ (Jadhav et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the mid-tropospheric humidity is reducing the frequency of the monsoon depressions (Prajeesh et al., 2009); (2) A reduction of the provide the

al., 2013); (3) The increase in atmospheric aerosol from air pollution acts to destroy the organization of the convection around the LPS, which weakens the depression, or inhibits the low from developing into a depression (Krishnamurti et al., 2013). However, Cohen and Boos (2014) posed the question whether there have been a decreasing trend in the depressions, since they do not see a trend in the frequency of depressions in the distinctive LPS datasets constructed by using different automated detection methods.

The monsoon LPS are related to extreme rainfall events in the central Indian region (Goswami et al., 2006; Sikka, 2006; Pattanaik and Rajeevan, 2010). These extreme rainfall events can cause damages to life and property through flooding and landslides. An increase in the extreme rainfall events in the central Indian region the last decades is suggested (Goswami et al., 2006; Pattanaik and Rajeevan, 2010), and this increase has occurred despite the decrease in the frequency of the stronger monsoon depression implied by different studies (Jadhav et al., 2009; Ajayamohan et al., 2010; Prajeesh et al., 2013). The IPCC report relate the increase in the atmospheric moisture content or the warmer SSTs in the tropical Indian Ocean (Rajeevan et al., 2008) to the increase in the extreme rainfall events in the central Indian region (IPCC, 2013). However, as discussed in section 2.1 and above, the increasing trend in the extreme rainfall events and the decreasing trend in the monsoon depression comes with large uncertainties.

The LPS propogate towards the west-northwest, against the mean low-level westerly flow. This westward propagation is connected to the low-level convergence, which is mainly in the west-northwestward sector relative to the low-pressure center (Godbole, 1977). The reason for the low-level convergence and the corresponding strong updraft ahead of the low-pressure center can be due to boundary layer friction, warm air advection, vorticity advection and cumulus processes (Sikka, 2006; Tyagi et al., 2012). There have been several studies where the dynamics of the monsoon LPS and the westward propagation have been studied (Sanders, 1984; Chen et al., 2005; Boos et al., 2014). By using quasi-geostrophic theory it has been suggested how the upward branch west of the depression center is maintained through latent heat release, generating vortex stretching, allowing the depression to propagate westward (Sanders, 1984; Chen et al., 2005). However, recently, Boos

et al. (2014) proposed a new view of the LPS dynamics, where they argue that the monsoon depressions propagate westward by nonlinear, horizontal adiabatic advection. Since air has to conserve its angular momentum, any changes in the coriolis force in the air surrounding the cyclone, will generate local cyclonic and anticyclonic gyres, letting the cyclone drift poleward and westward (called the beta drift). Boos et al. (2014) suggest the colocation of the precipitation and the upward ascent only has a minor contribution on the dynamics of the LSP. This new hypothesis just emphasizes that the understanding of the LPS dynamics and thermodynamics is not complete, and there is room for more research to understand this complex dynamics, which can be influenced by processes occurring on different scales.

To the west of the LPS, there is warm air advection from the north, and to the east of the cyclone center there is cold-air advection from the south (Saha and Chang, 1983), which suggest that baroclinic processes are important for the LPS dynamics. By analyzing the thermal budget of a monsoon depression, Saha and Saha (1988) propose that even though the temperature advection is small, it could be contributing to the initiation of vertical motion. Shukla (1978) highlighted the importance of the combination of the barotropic-baroclinic instability and the Conditional-Instability of Second Kind (CISK) for the development of the depressions, and suggested the primary driving mechanism for the growth of the monsoon depressions to be the CISK mechanism. The CISK-concept was first used to describe the growth of tropical hurricanes (Charney and Eliassen, 1964; Lin, 2007), and the theory portrays how a tropical disturbance can grow in a conditional unstable atmosphere through cooperation between the cumulus convection and the large-scale circulation. When there is low-level synoptic convergence and associated boundary layer friction, air with high moisture content is pumped upward in the atmospheric column (Ekman pumping). When the air reaches the cloud base (i.e. saturation), and eventually the level of free convection, latent heat will be released in the atmospheric column. This cumulus convection process will enhance the low-level convergence, which leads to more moisture pumped upward in the atmospheric column, and in this way is a self-excising process, until the vertical velocities (and low level convergences) are suppressed or there is a reduction in the moisture.

2.3 Precipitation and climate change

One of the most important variables within meteorology and hydrology is precipitation. To understand precipitation processes and predict precipitation accurately is extremely important, because of the huge impact it can have on the society. For instance, associated with severe storms there are large rainfall rates, causing flood events, which affect livelihood and lead to large economic losses. On the contrary, a depletion of precipitation over time causes increased frequency of droughts and a reduction in the water supply, which also has crucial impact on the society.

To predict how precipitation changes with a warming climate is a challenge because the precipitation processes are nonlinearly associated through dynamic, thermodynamic, cloud microphysical and radiative processes (Li and Gao, 2012). As an air parcel rises and expands, the air parcel will be cooled adiabatically. When the temperature of the air parcel is reduced to the temperature at saturation, the water vapor will condense into water droplets, produce clouds and eventually precipitation (e.g. Wallace and Hobbs, 2006). Clearly the vertical velocity is one of the main reasons for generating precipitation, however because of the latent heat release during phase changes of water, and the evaporative cooling from the falling rain, the precipitation is interlinked through atmospheric dynamics and thermodynamics processes, and these complex interactions makes is difficult to assess how the precipitation can change with global warming. A change in the frequency of the precipitation is often dependent on the atmospheric circulation and the moisture convergences generated, whereas the intensity of the precipitation is closer connected to the atmospheric moisture content that will be further complicated by cloud microphysical and radiative processes that will influence the timing and/or amount of the precipitation generated.

Scaling of precipitation

Based on thermodynamic properties, expressions of the precipitation intensity have been derived. A common assumption of the change in the precipitation intensity with temperature is related to the water holding capacity of the atmosphere, which is given by the Clausius-Clapeyron (CC) equation:

$$\frac{dq_s}{q_s} = \frac{L_v dT}{R_v T^2} \tag{1}$$

Here the relation between the saturation vapor pressure (e_s) and saturation specific humidity (q_s) is used, where $q_s = 0.622 \frac{e_s}{p}$, p is the atmospheric pressure, L_v is the latent heat of vaporization, R_v is the gas constant and T is the temperature. The fractional increase in the saturation specific humidity is in the range of 6-7 % when the temperature is increasing with 1 K (i.e. 6-7%/K). Thus if the relative humidity remains constant under climate change (IPCC, 2013), the change in the specific humidity will follow the CCrelation, and so will the precipitation, if it should change as the atmospheric column integrated water vapor content. This precipitation change, which is constrained by the moisture availability, is referred to as the CC-scaling.

By using climate models different studies have shown that the global mean precipitation does not scale as the CC-relation, but at a lower rate, around 3.4 %/K (e.g. Allen and Ingram, 2002). This is because latent heat is released as water vapor condenses. Thus the change in the global mean precipitation is constrained by the energy budget, and not by availability of the moisture content. O'Gorman and Schneider (2009) show this by deriving a scaling of the condensation rate, c (i.e. the condensate rate: $c = \frac{dq_s}{dt}$ when $\frac{dq_s}{dt} < 0$). Assuming that the precipitation is analog with the condensation rate, which is given by:

$$c \sim \omega \frac{dq_s}{dp}\Big|_{\theta_*} \tag{2}$$

 ω is the vertical velocity in pressure coordinate, p is the pressure, and the moist-adiabatic derivative of saturation specific humidity $(\frac{dq_s}{dp})$ must be taken along a constant equivalent potential temperature (θ^*) to allow for the warming effect of latent heat release (O'Gorman and Schneider, 2009). Thus, the condensation rate given above will not have a temperature scaling as the CC-scaling because the latent heat released at higher temperature will moderate the condensation rate, given that the relative humidity and vertical velocity will not change.

This last scaling approach is appropriate to describe how the global mean

precipitation intensity can change with warming. Though, it is important to distinguish between changes in global and local precipitation changes. Romps (2011) nicely presents how the local and global precipitation intensities change in high-resolution simulations during doubling of CO_2 concentrations. He find the global mean precipitation intensity to increase by 3%/K, and the local precipitation to increase by 6%/K. Even though the local precipitation change is in the order of the CC-scaling, this is more by chance than the explanation. The contribution to the local precipitation change is partly from increases in the vertical velocity, the vertical water vapor gradient and the cloud mass (Romps, 2011). Romps (2011) also finds the most intense precipitation to increase by 7-8%/K, and these events are generated by convective plumes that are faster and wider, but they are developing less frequently in the warmer simulations.

Analog to the results from Romps (2011), Trenberth et al. (2003) hypothesize that in a warmer climate there will be fewer storms, but the storms will be more intense, most likely due to the increase in the latent heat release. Associated with the storms there will be larger precipitation rates, however a reduction in the lifetime can be expected (Trenberth et al., 2003). This effect on storms in a warmer climate is conceptualized in Westra et al. (2014) by explaining it through a cloud feedback mechanism. When the only difference of the storm with warming is the moisture content, the precipitation intensity will change as the CC-scaling. According to Westra et al. (2014), if the storm is becoming more vigorous with stronger updrafts, but the horizontal extent remains the same, the lifetime of the storm will be reduced. The precipitation intensity during the storm will be larger than the CC-scaling, but since the storm has a reduced lifetime, the total accumulated precipitation will scale as the CC-relation. However, if the area of the storm is increasing together with a stronger updraft, even more moisture can be fed into the storm. For this situation, it is not clear if the lifetime of the storm will be reduced, but nevertheless, the precipitation intensity during the storm and the total accumulated precipitation will scale beyond the CC-scaling (Westra et al., 2014).

With global warming the extreme precipitation is expected to increase at a larger rate than the mean precipitation (O'Gorman and Schneider, 2009; Pall

et al., 2007). Extreme precipitation events are assumed to be constrained by the moisture availability, therefore it is suggested that the extreme precipitation will scale as the CC-relation, or even at a greater rate if the circulation also increases (Allen and Ingram, 2002; Trenberth et al., 2003). In a review by Westra et al. (2014), the globally averaged daily extreme precipitation during the 20th and early 21th century is reported to have increased by 5.9-7.7%/K, and it is also found that the extreme precipitation on sub-daily time scale has been intensified significantly. Loriaux et al. (2013) shows that the stratiform extreme precipitation, which has a longer time-duration and is more common in colder weather, is following the CC-scaling, while convective extreme precipitation that has a shorter time duration and appears in warmer weather, has a fractional increase of 2 times the CC-ration. Thus, it could be expected that the tropical extreme precipitation, which are predominally of convective charater, should increase at a super-CC scaling (O'Gorman, 2012).

Diagnosing the precipitation

To evaluate how the precipitation can change with global warming, let us take one step back, and start by considering which parameters are important for the precipitation intensity. By assuming saturation and neglecting the microphysical delay, the precipitation intensity is dependent on the change in condensed water with time, integrated over the vertical extent of the atmosphere where the condensation occur (cloud bottom to cloud top). The precipitation intensity is then approximated as:

$$P \approx \begin{cases} -\int_{P_{C_b}}^{P_{C_t}} \frac{dq_s}{dt} dp & \text{if } \frac{dq_s}{dt} < 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } \frac{dq_s}{dt} \ge 0. \end{cases}$$
(3)

 q_s is the saturated specific humidity, p is the pressure, P_{C_t} and P_{C_b} is the pressure at the top and bottom of the cloud. The precipitation in the above expression is given as the cloud integrated amount of condensed water, where the precipitation efficiency is assumed to be unity, thus the condensed water falls out instantaneously without being transported or evaporated before it reaches the ground.

The saturated specific humidity is a function of the temperature through the CC- equation $\left(\frac{dq_s}{dT}\right)$, the temperature is a function of the pressure through the atmospheric stability $\left(\frac{dT}{dp}\right)$ and the pressure is a function of time, given by the vertical velocity in pressure coordinate $\left(\frac{dp}{dt}\right)$. Thus by using the chain rule, the condensed water (and the precipitation) can be given by:

$$c = \frac{dq_s}{dt} = \frac{dq_s}{dT}\frac{dT}{dp}\frac{dp}{dt} \text{ when } \frac{dq_s}{dt} < 0.$$
(4)

If the atmospheric stability and vertical velocity is assumed to be constant with global warming, the change in the condensed water will only be dependent on the CC-relation, thus the amount of condensed water will increase with 6-7%/K. By including changes in the atmospheric stability as a result of for instance latent heat release, the change in the condensed water with global warming is the same as shown by Allen and Ingram (2002) and O'Gorman and Schneider (2009). However, if the vertical velocity is not constant with climate changes, this scaling assumption may not hold. Thus to assess the change in the condensation with warming, changes in the saturated specific humidity, atmospheric stability and vertical velocity has to be included.

Saturated specific humidity is directly related to the atmospheric temperature through the CC-equation. During rainfall events, the atmospheric temperature can change as a result of for instance evaporative cooling from the falling precipitation, and this will influence the scaling result (e.g. Westra et al., 2014). There have been studies that have used alternative temperatures as for example the dew point temperature (e.g. Loriaux et al., 2013). The dew point temperature represents the absolute specific humidity of the atmosphere, thus it could be suggested to use the actual moisture content of the atmosphere rather than the temperature (or the saturated specific humidity) when predicting the precipitation change (Westra et al., 2014).

3 Data

Retrospective-analysis (reanalysis) are systems that merge weather observations and models into one global 4-dimensional dataset. By using numerical models the weather observations are assimilated into global gridded values. Reanalysis dataset have been extensively used in several climate studies, and the users benefit greatly from the long time series of the global coverage of data. However, not all the fields that are produced come with the same reliability. The variables that are directly assimilated from observations gives more reliable estimate than the variables that are derived from the model. Variables describing the large-scale atmospheric circulation (e.g. temperature) are directly assimilated from observation data, whereas precipitation is a diagnosed variable. Precipitation is therefore not only dependent on the quality of the observation assimilated into the system, but the model physics will also introduce uncertainties. Precipitation from reanalysis have shown a poorer skill in the tropics than in the extra-tropics, and this can be related to how the convection is parameterized, since convection is more dominant in the tropics than at higher latitudes (e.g. Bosilovich et al., 2008).

This thesis uses a reanalysis from the European Centre for Medium Range Weather Forecast (ECMWF); ERA-interim. The ERA-Interim is an atmospheric reanalysis product covering the period from 1 January 1979 and onwards (Dee et al., 2011). The dataset is given on a spectral resolution of T255, which is approximately 80 km, on 60 vertical levels, and is produced with a 4-dimentional variational assimilation system (4D-Var). ERA-Interim is used as the lateral boundary conditions for the WRF simulations analyzed in Paper II and III. In Paper I ERA-Interim is used to detect the monsoon LPS, and it is also performed analysis on several different parameters from the reanalysis dataset, including the diagnosed precipitation.

Lin et al. (2014) analyzed 5 different global reanalysis datasets and assessed their performance in reproducing the climatology, inter-annual variation and long-term trend of global monsoon precipitation. They found that the ERA-Interim is the reanalysis dataset that shows the highest skill in reproducing the climatology and the inter-annual variability of monsoon precipitation. They suggest that the better performance of the ERA-Interim precipitation is a result of the advanced assimilation method. However, Lin et al. (2014) emphasizes that ERA-Interim overestimates the moderate rain substantially. This overestimation of the moderate rain is also found in our investigations (Paper I). That the ERA-Interim is underestimating the intensity of extreme precipitation is also found, which is confirmed by previous studies (Pfahl and Wernli, 2012). The mean JJAS and 99.5th percentile of the precipitation from the ERA-Interim is shown in Figure 8, where it is compared with the observational based Indian Meteorological Department rainfall, introduced in the next subsection. The underestimation of the extreme precipitation is evident when comparing the two datasets.

Due to the large uncertainty in the quality of the precipitation, two other precipitation dataset are included: the Indian Meteorological Department rainfall (IMD) data (Rajeevan et al., 2006), and the Tropical Rainfall Measuring Mission precipitation (Huffman et al., 2007). The IMD is a rain gauge based daily gridded dataset on $1 \circ x 1 \circ$ covering the Indian region, available from 1951-2010. IMD is used in Paper I and II, where in Paper I the IMD-rainfall is used as the "truth" to pick out the extreme rainfall events that are found in both the IMD rainfall and the ERA-Interim precipitation. In Paper



Figure 8: The mean daily JJAS precipitation from ERA-Interim (a) and IMD (b), and the 99.5th percentile of the mean JJAS daily precipitation from ERA-Interim (c) and IMD (d), for 1979-2010. Note the different color bars in (c) and (d). In (a) and (b) [(c) and (d)] the 5 and 15 [50, 75 and 100] mm/day contours are shown in black.

II the WRF precipitation is evaluated with the IMD rainfall in the central Indian region. TRMM is a satellite monitoring system with the purpose to monitore and study tropical rainfall (Huffman et al., 2007). It has a spatial resolution of $0.25^{\circ} \ge 0.25^{\circ}$ with a 3-hour time resolution, covering the tropics and part of the extra-tropics (50°N-50°S). TRMM is only used in Paper I, where is compared with the ERA-Interim precipitation associated with the monsoon LPS.

4 Tools and methods

4.1 Tracking monsoon LPS

Detection of a specific weather system in model outputs/reanalysis by using an automated method and objective criteria has been used in several studies (i.e. Yoon and Chen, 2005; Bengtsson et al., 2007; Stowasser et al., 2009; Pfahl and Wernli, 2012). This thesis uses the TRACK program developed by Hodges (1994, 1995, 1999), which is a Lagrangian feature-tracking algorithm. The basis of the method is to search for maxima or minima in a meteorological field (e.g. relative vorticity, geopotential height or MSLP), and the feature points that exceed a prescribed threshold are tracked and connected to a trajectory by minimizing a cost function (Hodges, 1994, 1995, 1999). The choice of the meteorological field should be done on the basis of what scale is to be detected (i.e. tracked). For instance, the MSLP is a better field to track the larger scales, since it is distinctively influenced by stronger background flow, where large spatial scales and relative slower moving systems dominate. The background flow is less dominate in the relative vorticity field, and is therefore a better choice to use when identifying smaller scale systems.

The dataset of the monsoon LPS used in this thesis is generated using the 850hPa relative vorticity field truncated to the spectral resolution of T42 with a time resolution of 6 hours. The vorticity threshold is $0.5x10^{-5}s^{-1}$, and only the trajectories that travel minimum 5° and last for more than 48 hours are retained. The removal of the background flow has been a common method to filter out features smaller or larger than on the scale of the weather phenomena to be detected. However, here the background flow in

the relative vorticity field is not removed because the aim was to detect the features initially, and remove the tracking errors by introducing constraints based on characteristics of the monsoon LPS. These criteria mentioned here are called initial constraints. These constraints are typical to use when performing an automated tracking method, where the only difference is the magnitude of the vorticity threshold, lifetime and minimum displacement. The next constraints we call adaptive constraints, which are criteria chosen based on the characteristics of the monsoon LPS and the area and season we are focusing on. General details about the method for detecting the monsoon LPS is described fully in Paper I, and a summary of all the criteria used is listed in Table I. Applying the algorithm on the whole time period of study (1979-2010), and using all the criteria described above leave us with 133 systems during the 32 years of study, with 4.2 trajectories detected each season on average.

To evaluate the results from the automated TRACK method and tune the different criteria, we compared our trajectories with trajectories in the Sikka dataset (Sikka, 2006). The Sikka dataset consists of statistics of the position and time duration of monsoon LPS that developed over India and the adjoining oceans from 1984-2003, and is constructed by analyzing synoptic weather charts of the MSLP and the surface wind speed. Based on these two parameters the monsoon LPS have been classified into a low, depression, deep depression, cyclonic storm or severe storm.

During the 20 years studied by Sikka (2006) 274 LPS are found (on average 13.7 LPS each season), where 45 are categorized as depressions or deep depressions (2.25 each season). The coincidence of the trajectories found by our method, and with the observed trajectories found in Sikka (2006) is very good, however, we realized we were left with not only depressions, but also the weaker systems monsoon lows. Thus, based on these results it cannot be concluded that the method and associated constraints used here is capable of detecting the climatology of the monsoon depressions, but it generate a dataset of monsoon LPS that have the same thermal structure. The method used in Sikka (2006) to pick out the LPS, does not consider the thermal structure of the low. The number of LPS found by our method and the number of LPS found in Sikka (2006) should therefore not necessarily

| Criteria | | | | |
|----------------------|-----------------------|---|--|--|
| Initial constraints | Vorticity treshold | The feature points in the 850 hPa T42 vorticity need to exceed a threshold of $0.5 \times 10-5$ s-1. | | |
| | Displacement treshold | A minimum displacement of 5° during its lifetime. | | |
| | Lifetime | The detected feature needs to have a lifetime of more than 48 h. | | |
| Adaptive constraints | MSLP treshold | A MSLP minimum search around each feature point within a radius of 5° is performed. The features that have a true minimum for at least four consecutive time steps are picked out. | | |
| | Cold/warm core | Identification of the systems that are cold core at lower levels and warm core aloft, where the T63 850 hPa relative vorticity maximum needs to exceed a threshold of 1 x10-5 s-1. To check for the cold and warm core, the vorticity difference in the lower layer (between $850 - 500$ hPa) is required to be positive, while the vorticity difference between the upper layer ($500 - 250$ hPa) must be negative. This must be true for one time step. | | |
| | Topography | All the trajectories that developed above 700 m are removed, which may be a result extrapolated values in the reanalysis. | | |
| | Direction of movement | Picking out the systems that move in a northwestward direction. | | |
| | Monsoon season | The summer months (JJAS) are studied. | | |
| | Indian region | Area of study: latitude $10 - 30^{\circ}N$ and longitude $65 - 100^{\circ}E$. | | |

be the same. To compare a climatology constructed with different methods from different datasets is not trivial, and this is clearly shown by Cohen and Boos (2014). They compare the number of depressions detected in different dataset, and the annual frequency and variability differs depending on the detection method and dataset used. Based on their results, they pose the question whether there have been a decreasing trend in the depression the last decades, since they do not see a trend in the frequency of depressions in the different LPS datasets obtained by using different automated methods.

4.2 Dynamical downscaling by using the PGW approach

Instead of performing the traditional method of dynamical downscaling on projections from climate models, the Pseudo Global Warming approach (PGW) is used in this thesis. By adopting a realized or simulated atmospheric flow evolution (i.e. reanalysis data) as LBC, and add a climate change signal to the driving boundary conditions, the results from the regional model are investigated in a future climate scenario. This PGW approach is appropriate for sensitivity studies, and it provides a first order estimate of the impact from climate change. The approach introduced by Schär et al. (1996) is used, called the surrogate climate-change simulation. This method separates the effect of the increase in atmospheric moisture from changes in the atmospheric circulation, so the results can be studied with respect to how changes in the thermodynamic fields affect the precipitation.

The PGW approach is used on 10 different monsoon LPS cases, chosen from the dataset generated in Paper I. In Paper II and III the results from the surrogate climate change simulations is presented. Here the methodology behind the sensitivity experiments is presented. ERA-Interim is used as initial and latera boundary conditions for the simulations. First we perform a control simulation without any perturbations added to the boundary conditions (the control run). Next, a temperature perturbation, ΔT , is added to the temperature fields on all pressure levels in the atmosphere, the SST, the skin-temperature and the soil temperature fields in the ERA-Interim initial and lateral boundary conditions. The new temperature fields are then given as:

$$T_{\Delta T} = T_{CTR} + \Delta T, \tag{5}$$

where ΔT is the temperature pertubation. We perform two perturbed runs, with a temperature pertubation of $\Delta T = 2K$ and $\Delta T = 4K$, referred to the +2K and +4K runs, respectively. It shold be stressed that we are perturbing the temperature and not the virtual temperature as in Schär et al. (1996). This is a valid approximation, since the temperature change due to the change in the humidity, is very small compared to the total temperature increase.

The relative humidity (RH) is given as the fraction between the specific humidity (q) and the saturated specific humidity (q_s) :

$$RH = \frac{q}{q_s} \cdot 100\% \tag{6}$$

The relative humidity (RH) is unchanged in the perturbed simulations, therefore the specific humidity changes in the same order as the saturated specific humidity, which is a function of the temperature given by the CC-relation shown in Equation 1 in section 2.3. Figure 9 shows the fractional change of the relative humidity and specific humidity, taken as the domain mean of the 10 LPS cases at the initial time in simulations. The relative humidity is unchanged, and the change in the specific humidity is 13 % (26 %) for the 2K (4K) simulations, i.e. 6.5%/K, in the lower part of the atmosphere.

To keep large-scale flow constant between the three simulations, the last modification includes an adjustment of the surface pressure (p_s) , which mainly occurs over the high terrain. By starting with the hypsometric equation, an expression for the height of the terrain, Z_t , is obtained:

$$Z_t = \frac{RT}{g_0} \cdot \ln \frac{p_{SL}}{p_s} \tag{7}$$

R is the gas constant for air, \overline{T} is the average temperature in the layer, p_{SL} is the sea level pressur, and p_s is the surface pressure. When adding a temperature pertubation, the height of the terrain does not change, and by assuming that the sea level pressure does not change (e.g. Schär et al., 1996), the new surface pressure with the temperature pertubation can be



Figure 9: The domain mean change in the relative humidity (RH) and specific humidity (q) between the control runs and the two perturbed runs (2K and 4K).

calculated as:

$$p_{s,\Delta T} = \frac{p_{SL}}{\left[\frac{T}{(T+\Delta T)} \cdot \ln \frac{p_{SL}}{p_s}\right]}$$
(8)

The new geopotential height (Φ) with the new temperature field and the adjusted surface pressure is calculated as:

$$\Phi_{\Delta T}(p) = \int_{p}^{p_{s,\Delta T}} R(T + \Delta T) \frac{dp}{p}$$
(9)

Where p is at some reference pressure level. The height of the surfaces of constant pressure has slightly increased by adding a temperature pertubation. The modification of the surface pressure ensures geopotential height distribution to be dynamically consistent with the new temperature field, and there are no changes in the large-scale gradients across the model domain.

4.3 Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF) model

The dynamical downscaling is performed with the regional model Weather Research and Forecasting (WRF) (Skamarock et al., 2008). WRF is a community model where the National Center for Atmospheric Research (NCAR) is leading the development. WRF is a fully compressible and non-hydrostatic atmospheric model, which is used for operational weather forecasting as well as climate research. The Advanced Research WRF (ARW) dynamical core, version 3.4.1 is used for the surrogate climate change experiments. The model and domain configurations have a 4km horizontal resolution and 50 vertical (eta) model levels, and the domain is run with 694 x 694 grid points. The domain covers India and parts of BoB, Himalaya and Arabian Sea. No convection parameterization was enabled for the 4km runs, since the convection was assumed to be explicitly simulated. The runs are performed with the Thompson microphysical scheme (Thompson et al., 2008), Yonsei University Planetary Boundary layer scheme (YSU) (Hong et al., 2006), Community Atmosphere Model's (CAM) longwave and shortwave radiation scheme (Collins et al., 2006), and the Noah Land Surface Model scheme (Niu et al., 2011). The model was run with SST update every 6 hour, and an alternative initialization of the inland lake's surface temperatures is included. This method uses the diurnal average temperature taken from the area close to the lake, instead of the SST from the closest ocean.

5 Summary of papers

This thesis consists of three papers, which are placed chronologically in the order they were written. All the papers are devoted to the monsoon low-pressure systems, where the associated precipitation is the main focus in the three studies, but each paper has a different perspective. In Paper I the dataset of the monsoon LPS is created, where statistical analysis on parameters that are important for the precipitation associated with the LPS in the ERA-Interim dataset is performed. In Paper II and III the results from the surrogate climate change simulations are studied: Paper II focus on changes in the parameters that are important for describing the LPS precipitation, while Paper III focus on the change in the extreme precipitation and runoff over the central Indian continent.

Paper I: The dynamic and thermodynamic structure of monsoon low-pressure systems during extreme rainfall events.

Silje Lund Sørland¹ and Asgeir Sorteberg^{1,2}

1 Geophysical Institute, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.

2 Bjerknes Center for Climate Research, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

This was the first work done on the monsoon LPS in this thesis, and the aim was to generate a climatology of monsoon LPS that were related to an extreme rainfall event over the Indian continent. However, as discussed in the paper, to construct a climatology of a given weather phenomena is very sensitive to the underlying dataset and the criteria used to pick out the features. Thus a dataset of monsoon LPS, which had similar thermodynamical structures, i.e. cold core at lower levels and warm core aloft, was constructed. The LPS are detected in the ERA-Interim dataset, and the LPS that are generating an extreme rainfall event in both the ERA-Interim precipitation and the observationally based IMD rainfall dataset are selected for analyses. There were in total 39 LPS that fulfilled all the criteria during the time period 1979-2010. The main focus was on the investigations into which parameters that are important for the LPS precipitation, together with a discussion of the dynamic and thermodynamic structure of the LPS.

Key findings:

- The cyclone composite clearly shows the general structure of the LPS, with a pronounced cold core at lower levels and warm core aloft. Evaporative cooling from the falling precipitation is proposed to generate the cold core.
- The temperature gradients across the cyclone center are strongest in the early phase of the low. Based on this, it is suggested the baroclinic instability to be important in the development phase of the LPS, whereas the upward motion ahead of the low is maintained through latent heat release in the mature phase.
- From the composites of the time steps where the extreme precipitation is occurring, a colocation of the strong updraft and vertical velocity is shown. It is thought that the extreme rainfall events is a result of the LPS-dynamics, which is dominated by the CISK-mechanism at this stage of the low.
- Correlation and co-variability between the LPS precipitation and different meteorological parameters is performed, and the LPS precipita-

tion intensity shows a large sensitivity to the strength of the low-level velocity and specific humidity.

Paper II: The precipitation response in climate sensitivity experiments of monsoon low-pressure systems over India.

Silje Lund Sørland¹, Asgeir Sorteberg^{1,2}, Changhai Liu³ and Roy Rasmussen³

1 Geophysical Institute, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.

2 Bjerknes Center for Climate Research, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

3 Research Applications Laboratory, National Center for Atmospheric Research, Boulder, USA.

In this paper 10 of the 39 LPS cases detected in Paper I is picked, and it is performed high-resolution climate sensitivity simulations, where all the temperature fields is perturbed with +2 and +4K. The specific humidity is correspondingly increased by 13 and 26 %. The mean changes between the control and perturbed runs following the LPS, is analyzed. The main focus is on parameters that are important for the modeled change in precipitation intensity.

Key findings:

- The precipitation associated with the LPS is increasing with up to 13%/K, which is twice the imposed initial moisture increase. This large increase in the precipitation is associated to feedbacks in the vertical velocities and the atmospheric stability.
- In the perturbed temperature simulations the LPS have a higher propagation speed and have developed into more intense storms. It is suggested that the storms in the warmer simulations have been intensified through the conditional instability of second kind (CISK) mechanism, since the condensational heating has increased together with the lowlevel convergence and vertical velocity, and as a result the depth of the surface low has strengthened.

Paper III: Low-pressure systems and extreme precipitation in central India: sensitivity to temperature changes.

Silje Lund Sørland¹ and Asgeir Sorteberg^{1,2}

1 Geophysical Institute, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway.

2 Bjerknes Center for Climate Research, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

This study is continuing the work from Paper II by using the same model outputs from the 10 simulations. However, here the focus is on the short duration extreme precipitation that is released over central India, instead of the mean precipitation following the low-pressure systems.

Key findings:

- The main difference between the control and perturbed runs is the change in the extreme precipitation. In the perturbed runs the intensity of the precipitation is increasing at all percentiles, and there are more frequent rainfall with very heavy intensities. This shift in the category of precipitation frequency and increase in the intensity, leads to a shift in which category that contribute most to the total precipitation: more of the precipitation is coming from the category with very heavy intensities.
- The runoff relative changes between control and perturbed runs in the different categories follow the precipitation changes, except the relative response of extreme intensity runoff, which for subdaily timescales are over twice the relative precipitation change.
- The mean precipitation change with warming in the central Indian region is up to 20%/K, and this precipitation change is larger than the precipitation responce found in Paper II. In Paper II the precipitation change following the low-pressure center was analyzed, but Paper III consider central India, where there are regions that have not been subject to precipitation in the control runs, but in the perturbed runs there have been precipitation, mainly due to an increased horizontal extent of the system and a slightly different propagation path.
- The LPS in the warmer runs are bringing more moisture further inland

that is being released as precipitation in the western region of central India, and as a result the precipitation change is largest further inland.

6 Discussion and future perspective

The 3 scientific papers presented in this thesis investigate the monsoon LPS and the associated precipitation. A well known tracking algorithm is used to detect the LPS in the ERA-Interim reanalysis dataset. LPS that are related to observed extreme rainfall events in India are picked out. 39 LPS cases fulfilled the criteria, and these cases were examined by using variables from the ERA-Interim reanalysis dataset. Next, 10 LPS cases were chosen and simulated with the high-resolution model WRF, using the surrogate climate change approach. The results were analyzed with respect to how the LPS precipitation could change in a warmer and more humid environment. The change in the mean precipitation following the LPS was investigated, as well as changes in extreme precipitation and runoff in the central Indian region. The main findings will be summarized in the following, sorted by the objectives given in the introduction.

How are the LPS that are connected to an observed extreme precipitation event represented in the ERA-Interim dataset?

The cyclone composites of variables from ERA-Interim reproduce the general characteristics of the LPS. The cold core at lower levels and warm core aloft is seen, and the composite also show a warm air sector ahead of the low and a cold air sector behind the low-pressure center. The updraft is located ahead of the surface low, collocated with the area of maximum precipitation. The LPS have a larger horizontal extent over ocean than over land, and during the time extreme precipitation occurs, the systems are more intense (stronger pressure gradients) and the precipitation cover a smaller horizontal area. Based on how the LPS are described in the literature, it seem as ERA-Interim reproduce the LPS dynamical and thermodynamical structure well (e.g. Godbole, 1977; Sikka, 2006; Krishnamurthy and Ajayamohan, 2010), however, the precipitation shows some deficiencies. The ERA-Interim precipitation was compared with the TRMM precipitation, and ERA-Interim produce too much precipitation each time step, and the precipitation is not placed on the correct place. Moreover, when picking out the extreme rainfall events that were common in both ERA-Interim and the observational based IMD dataset, it was found that ERA-Interim underestimates the extremes and the extremes often develop in the wrong place/at the wrong time.

Which meteorological parameters are important for understanding the variability in the precipitation intensity associated with the monsoon LPS?

Based on a simple description of the precipitation intensity, the precipitation is related to the atmospheric temperature, atmospheric stability, vertical velocity and the specific humidity. The co-variability between the LPS precipitation and different variables was investigated, and it was found that a large part of the precipitation variability could be explained with only a small set of parameters. The upward motion and specific humidity at 750hPa shows the largest correlation with the precipitation. The temperature at 750hPa shows no significant correlation with the LPS precipitation, and the lack of correlation may be due to a balance between the cooling from adiabatic ascent and heating from condensation. Because of evaporative cooling from falling precipitation, the temperature at 950hPa is negatively correlated with precipitation. The atmospheric stability, given as the difference between the temperature at 750 and 950hPa, show a weak correlation with the precipitation. It seems as the lower atmospheric temperature, which is influenced by evaporative cooling, mainly controls the variability in the temperature difference.

How sensitive is the average precipitation associated with the LPS to an increase in the atmospheric temperature and moisture content?

The mean precipitation following the monsoon LPS increases with up to 13.2 %/K in the climate sensitivity simulations, which is twice the increase in the atmospheric moisture content expected from the CC-relation. This large increase is explained by the imposed specific humidity increase, a dynamic feedback giving stronger upward motions and a thermodynamic feedback decreasing the atmospheric stability. The precipitation response can be interpreted by a feedback loop: An increase in the temperature increases the atmospheric moisture content. More moisture leads to an increase in the

condensation and latent heat. The vertical velocity and atmospheric stability is influenced by the increase in the latent heat, and is therefore amplifying the precipitation response.

How sensitive is the extreme precipitation generated by LPS and associated runoff in the central India region to a warmer and more humid atmosphere?

Comparing the warmer model runs to the control runs, it is found that the LPS are covering a larger area, propagating faster and able to bring more moisture across the Indian continent, which is released as precipitation further inland. The warmer runs show that in the central Indian region the precipitation intensity is increasing at all percentiles, and an increase in the frequency of moderate, heavy and very heavy precipitation events occurs at the expense of low precipitation events. More of the precipitation is coming from the category with very heavy intensities, while there is a decrease in the contribution from the other categories. The runoff shows similar response as the precipitation to temperature warming, except for the changes in the extreme intensities. The relative change in the 99th percentile intensity for the runoff is twice the relative change in the precipitation intensity, but for lower percentiles the relative change is similar for the precipitation and runoff. Based on this, it is suggested that there is an increased risk of more severe flooding events in the central India region during the passage of these LPS in a warmer climate. It can also be speculated that there may be severe flooding in regions that has been less prone to flooding before, since the storm is able to bring high-moisture content further inland.

Main findings and perspective

The main motivation for this thesis was to understand how sensitive the LPS precipitation is to a warming world. The results clearly show that in a warmer and more humid atmosphere, the LPS can produce more precipitation, precipitate with a higher precipitation rate and also release precipitation further into the Indian continent. If this is how the LPS may develop in a warmer atmosphere, the impact from the LPS precipitation on the Indian society can be large. However, it should be emphasized that these experiments are idealized, and assumes the large-scale flow to be unchanged. In a

warming climate the LPS would develop on a different monsoon background flow. Thus it cannot be expected that the lows will behave in the same manner in a warmer climate, since the large-scale dynamic will influence the propagation and frequency of the LPS.

The LPS is such an important feature of the monsoon circulation, and account for up to 50 % of the monsoon precipitation (Yoon and Chen, 2005), therefore it is important to investigate whether or not the frequency or intensity of the monsoon LPS will change with atmospheric warming. There are several challenges associated with the LPS research, related to the uncertainty regarding the climatology of the monsoon LPS, whether there has been a negative trend or not of the monsoon depressions. Cohen and Boos (2014) propose that there are deficiencies in the monsoon LPS dataset constructed by the Indian Meteorological Department (IMD), since the declining trend of monsoon depressions seen in IMD depression time series, is not found in other time series constructed with different underlying datasets and with different automated detection methods. Difficulties in constructing climatology of monsoon LPS with an automated tracking method was also found in Paper I, where the number of detected features was very sensitive to the different criteria used to filter out the tracking errors. To determine the choice of objective criteria when using automated detection methods, it is important to know the structure of the feature to be detected. Since we decided to use the thermal structure as one of the criteria, we have excluded LPS that do not have a clear cold core at lower levels and warm core aloft. However, this criterion may have removed dry vortices, since the cold core is shown to be a result of evaporative cooling, in addition to have excluded vortices that may have tropical cyclone intensity, which have warm core throughout their vertical extent.

To assess how the precipitation may change with climate is an important but challenging task. The tropical precipitation, which is mostly of convective character, should be simulated with a very high horizontal resolution, where convection is explicitly resolved. Moreover, to know how good your model is, you need to evaluate your modeled precipitation against observations. Due to the heterogeneity of the precipitation, and the limitations of observations in the tropics, it is difficult to obtain long time-series of high-resolution precipitation datasets. In India there is a long history of measuring the precipitation due to the importance the monsoon progress has on the society. The IMD rainfall dataset covers a long time period, and the information from the rain gauge are interpolated into gridded data. The number of stations within each grid square and the interpolation method will affect the quality of the precipitation, and especially the representation of the extremes will be affected. We evaluated the WRF precipitation against the IMD precipitation in the central Indian region, and found the WRF precipitation to simulate the IMD precipitation fairly well. One advantage of performing a sensitivity experiments as we have in this thesis, is that the aim is not to simulate the precipitation perfectly, but we are focusing on the differences in the precipitation between the control and perturbed simulations.

Several studies have investigated how the precipitation scales with temperature warming (Allen and Ingram, 2002; O'Gorman and Schneider, 2009; Romps, 2011; Loriaux et al., 2013). In this thesis we performed multiple linear regression to understand the model results, and used the regression coefficients to assess the sensitivity of changes in the precipitation to changes in any of the predictors. The results have to be interpreted with caution, since the predictors are not independent. However, we got a good estimate of which parameters that are important for the precipitation variability. In Paper II we clearly show that the change in precipitation with temperature warming do not scale as the CC-relation. The changes in the atmospheric stability and vertical velocity are also important, where the latter has the largest impact on the LPS precipitation. With this we want to highlight the different feedbacks affecting the precipitation intensity with an increase in the temperature. However, to properly assess how the precipitation associated with the LPS may change, climate models has to be able to capture the monsoon LPS (e.g. Turner and Annamalai, 2012), so that LPS can be properly simulated in the future background flow. Only then can we fully assess how the LPS precipitation may change in a future scenario.

References

- Ajayamohan, R. S., W. J. Merryfield, and V. V. Kharin (2010). Increasing Trend of Synoptic Activity and Its Relationship with Extreme Rain Events over Central India. *Journal of Climate*, 23, 1004-1013.
- Allen, M. R. and W. J. Ingram (2002). Constraints on future changes in climate and the hydrologic cycle. *Nature*. 419, 224-231.
- Bengtsson, L., K. I. Hodges, and M. Esch (2007). Tropical cyclones in a T159 resolution global climate model: comparison with observations and re-analyses. *Tellus Series a-Dynamic Meteorology and Oceanography*, 59, 396-416.
- Boos, W. R and Z. Kuang (2010). Dominant control of the South Asian monsoon by orographic insulation versus plateau heating. *Nature*. 463, 218–222, doi:10.1038/nature08707.
- Boos, W. R, J. V. Hurley and V. S. Murthy (2014). Adiabatic westward drift of Indian monsoon depressions. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. DOI: 10.1002/qj.2454
- Bosilovich, M. G., J. Chen, F. R. Robertson and R. F. Adler (2008) Evaluation of Global Precipitation in Reanalyses. J. Appl. Meteor. Climatol. 47, 2279–2299. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/2008JAMC1921.1
- Charney, J. G. and A. Eliassen (1964). On the Growth of the Hurricane Depression. *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*. 21, 68-75.
- Chen, T. C., J. H. Yoon, and S. Y. Wang (2005). Westward propagation of the Indian monsoon depression. *Tellus Series a-Dynamic Meteorology* and Oceanography. 57, 758-769.
- Cohen, N. Y. and W. R. Boos (2014). Has the number of Indian summermonsoon depressions decreased over the last 30 years? *Geophysical Research Letter*.41, 7846-7853.
- Collins, W.D., C. M. Bitz, M. L. Blacknon, G. B. Bonan, C. S. Bretherton, J. A. Carton, P. Chang, S. C. Doney, J. J. Hack, T. B. Henderson, J. T. Kiehl, W. G. Large, D. S McKenna, B. D. Santer and R. D. Smith. (2006). The Community Climate System Model Version 3 (CCSM3). J Climate. 19, pp. 2122-2143.

- Dee, D. P., S. M. Uppala, A. J. Simmons, P. Berrisford, P. Poli, S. Kobayashi,
 U. Andrae, M. A. Balmaseda, G. Balsamo, P. Bauer, P. Bechtold, A. C.
 M. Beljaars, L. van de Berg, J. Bidlot, N. Bormann, C. Delsol, R. Dragani,
 M. Fuentes, A. J. Geer, L. Haimberger, S. B. Healy, H. Hersbach, E. V.
 Holm, L. Isaksen, P. Kallberg, M. Kohler, M. Matricardi, A. P. McNally,
 B. M. Monge-Sanz, J. J. Morcrette, B. K. Park, C. Peubey, P. de Rosnay,
 C. Tavolato, J. N. Thepaut, and F. Vitart (2011). The ERA-Interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system.
 Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society. 137, 553-597.
- Dina, Y and D. Sikka (2006). Synoptic systems and weather, in The Asian Monsoon, edited by B. Wang, Springer, Berlin (Book)
- Dobler, A and B. Ahrens (2011). Four climate change scenarios for the Indian summer monsoon by the regional climate model COSMO-CLM. J. Geophys. Res. 116. D24104.
- Dube, A., R. Ashrit, A. Ashish, K. Sharma, G. R. Iyengar, E. N. Rajagopal, and S. Basu (2014). Forecasting the heavy rainfall during Himalayan flooding—June 2013. Weather and Climate Extremes. 4, 22-34.
- Gadgil, S (2003). The Indian monsoon and its variability. Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 31 (2003) 429 – 467.
- Godbole, R. V. (1977). The composite structure of the monsoon depression. Tellus Series a-Dynamic Meteorology and Oceanography, 29, 25-40.
- Guhathakurta, P. and M. Rajeevan (2008). Trends in the rainfall pattern over India. Int. J. Climatol. 28: 1453–1469. DOI: 10.1002/joc.1640
- Goswami, B. N., R. S. Ajayamohan, P. K. Xavier, and D. Sengupta (2003). Clustering of synoptic activity by Indian summer monsoon intraseasonal oscillations. Geophysical Research Letters, 30, 1431.
- Goswami, B. N., V. Venugopal, D. Sengupta, M. S. Madhusoodanan, and P. K. Xavier (2006). Increasing trend of extreme rain events over India in a warming environment. *Science*, 314, 1442-1445.
- Hodges, K. I. (1999). Adaptive Constraints for Feature Tracking. Monthly Weather Review, 127, 1362-1373.

- Hodges, K. I. (1995). Feature Tracking on the Unit Sphere. Monthly Weather Review, 123, 3458-3465.
- Hodges, K. I. (1994). A General Method for Tracking Analysis and its Application to Meteorological Data. *Monthly Weather Review*,120,2573-2586.
- Hong, S. Y., Y. Noh, and J. Dudhia (2006). A new vertical diffusion package with an explicit treatment of entrainment processes. *Monthly Weather Review*, 134, 2318-2341.
- Houze, R. A., D. C. Wilton and B. F. Smull (2007). Monsoon convection in the Himalayan region as seen by the TRMM Precipitation Radar. Q. J. R. Meteorol. Soc. 133: 1389–1411 (2007)
- Houze, R. A., K. L. Rasmussen, S. Medina, S. R. Brodzik, and U. Romatschke (2011). Anomalous Atmospheric Events Leading to the Summer 2010 Floods in Pakistan. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*. 92, 291-298.
- Huffman, G. J., R. F. Adler, D. T. Bolvin, G. J. Gu, E. J. Nelkin, K. P. Bowman, Y. Hong, E. F. Stocker, and D. B. Wolff (2007). The TRMM multisatellite precipitation analysis (TMPA): Quasi-global, multiyear, combined-sensor precipitation estimates at fine scales. *Journal of Hydrometeorology.* 8, 38-55.
- Jadhav, S. K. and A. A. Munot (2009). Warming SST of Bay of Bengal and decrease in formation of cyclonic disturbances over the Indian region during southwest monsoon season. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, 96, 327-336.
- Joseph, P. V. and T. P. Sabin (2007). An ocean–atmosphere interaction mechanism for the active break cycle of the Asian summer monsoon. *Clim Dynamics.* 30:553–566 DOI 10.1007/s00382-007-0305-2
- Joseph, S., A. K. Sahai, S. Sharmila, S. Abhilash, N. Borah, R. Chattopadhyay, P. A. Pillai, M. Rajeevan, and A. Kumar (2014). North Indian heavy rainfall event during June 2013: diagnostics and extended range prediction. *Climate Dynamics*. 1-17.

- Krishnamurthy, V. and J. Shukla (2000). Intraseasonal and interannual Variability of Rainfall over Indian. *Journal of Climate*, 13, 4366-4377.
- Krishnamurthy, V. and J. Shukla (2007). Intraseasonal and seasonally persisting patterns of Indian monsoon rainfall. *Journal of Climate*, 20, 3-20.
- Krishnamurthy, C. K. B., U. Lall, and H. H. Kwon (2009) Changing Frequency and Intensity of Rainfall Extremes over India from 1951 to 2003. *Journal of Climate*. 22, 4737-4746.
- Krishnamurthy, V. and R. S. Ajayamohan (2010). Composite Structure of Monsoon Low Pressure Systems and Its Relation to Indian Rainfall. *Journal of Climate*. 23, 4285-4305.
- Krishnamurti, T. N., A. Martin, R. Krishnamurti, A. Simon, A. Thomas, and V. Kumar (2013). Impacts of enhanced CCN on the organization of convection and recent reduced counts of monsoon depressions. *Climate Dynamics*, 41, 117-134.
- Lau, K. M. (2003) Monsoon: ENSO-Monsoon Interactions. Encyclopedia of Atmospheric Sciences. Eds. J. Holton and J. A. Curry. Academic Press, pp. 1383-1391.
- Li, X. and S. Gao (2012). Precipitation Modeling and Quantitative Analysis. Springer Atmospheric Sciences.
- Lin, Y.-L. (2007) Mesoscale Dynamics. Cambridge University Press. 674 pp.
- Lin, R. P., T. J. Zhou, and Y. Qian (2014). Evaluation of Global Monsoon Precipitation Changes based on Five Reanalysis Datasets. *Journal* of Climate. 27, 1271-1289.
- Loriaux, J. M., G. Lenderink, S. R. De Roode, and A. P. Siebesma (2013). Understanding Convective Extreme Precipitation Scaling Using Observations and an Entraining Plume Model. *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences.* 70, 3641-3655.
- Maraun, D., F. Wetterhall, A. M. Ireson, R. E. Chandler, E. J. Kendon, M. Widmann, S. Brienen, H. W. Rust, T. Sauter, M. Themessl, V. K. C. Venema, K. P. Chun, C. M. Goodess, R. G. Jones, C. Onof, M. Vrac, and I. Thiele-Eich (2010). Precipitation Downscaling under Climate Change:

Recent Developments to Bridge the Gap between Dynamical Models and the End User. *Reviews of Geophysics.* 48.

- Niu, G.-Y., Z.-L. Yang, K. E. Mitchell, F. Chen, M. B. Ek, M. Barlage, A. Kumar, K. Manning, D. Niyogi, E. Rosero, M. Tewari, and Y. Xia (2011). The community Noah land surface model with multiparameterization options (Noah-MP): 1. Model description and evaluation with local-scale measurements. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres.* 116, D12109.
- O'Gorman, P. A. (2012). Sensitivity of tropical precipitation extremes to climate change *Nature Geoscience*.5, 697-700.
- O'Gorman, P. A. and T. Schneider (2009) Scaling of Precipitation Extremes over a Wide Range of Climates Simulated with an Idealized GCM, J Climate. 22, pp. 5676-5685.
- Pall, P., M.R. Allen and D.A. Stone (2007) Testing the Clausius-Clapeyron constraint on changes in extreme precipitation under CO2 warming. *Climate Dynamics.* 28. pp. 351-363.
- Pattanaik, D. R. and M. Rajeevan (2010). Variability of extreme rainfall events over India during southwest monsoon season. *Meteorological Applications*, 17, 88-104.
- Pfahl, S. and H. Wernli (2012). Quantifying the relevance of atmospheric blocking for co-located temperature extremes in the Northern Hemisphere on (sub-)daily time scales. Geophysical Research Letters. 39.
- Prajeesh, A. G., K. Ashok, and D. V. B. Rao (2013). Falling monsoon depression frequency: A Gray-Sikka conditions perspective. *Scientific Reports*, 3, 2989.
- Privé, N. C. and R. A. Plumb (2007) Monsoon Dynamics with Interactive Forcing. Part I: Axisymmetric Studies. J. Atmos. Sci., 64, 1417–1430. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1175/JAS3916.1
- Rajeevan, M., J. Bhate, J. A. Kale, and B. Lal (2006). High resolution daily gridded rainfall data for the Indian region: Analysis of break and active monsoon spells. *Current Science*. 91, 296-306.

- Rajeevan, M., J. Bhate, and A. K. Jaswal (2008). Analysis of variability and trends of extreme rainfall events over India using 104 years of gridded daily rainfall data. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 35, L18707.
- Rajeevan, M., S. Gadgil and J. Bhate (2010). Active and break spells of the Indian summer monsoon. J. Earth Syst. Sci. 119, No. 3, June 2010, pp. 229–247.
- Romps, D. M. (2011) Response of Tropical Precipitation to Global Warming. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences. 68, 123-138.
- Sabeerali, C. T., S. A. Rao, A. R. Dhakate, K. Salunke, and B. N. Goswami (2014). Why ensemble mean projection of south Asian monsoon rainfall by CMIP5 models is not reliable? *Climate Dynamics*. DOI 10.1007/s00382-014-2269-3
- Saha, K. and C. P. Chang (1983). The baroclinic process of monsoon depressions. Monthly Weather Review, 111, 1506-1514.
- Saha, K. and S. Saha (1988). Thermal Budget of a Monsoon Depression in the Bay of Bengal during Fgg-Monex 1979. Monthly Weather Review. 116, 242-254.
- Saha, K. and F. Sanders (1981). Westward Propagating Predecessors of Monsoon Depressions. *Monthly Weather Review*. 109, 330-343.
- Sanders, F. (1984). Quasi-Geostrophic Diagnosis of the Monsoon Depression of 5-8 July 1979. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences. 41, 538-552.
- Schär, C., C. Frei, D. Luthi, and H. C. Davies (1996). Surrogate climatechange scenarios for regional climate models. *Geophysical Research Let*ters. 23, 669-672.
- Sen Roy, S. and R. C. Balling (2004) Trends in extreme daily precipitation indices in India. *International Journal of Climatology*. 24, 457-466.
- Shukla, J. (1978). Cisk-Barotropic-Baroclinic Instability and Growth of Monsoon Depressions. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences, 35, 495-508.
- Sikka, D. R. (2006). A study on the monsoon Low pressure systems over the Indian region and their relationship with drought and excess monsoon seasonal rainfall. *COLA Technical. Report.* 217, 61 pp.

- Skamarock, W. C., J. B. Klemp, J. Dudhia, D. O. Gill, D. M. Barker, M. G. Duda, X.-Y. Huang, W. Wang, and J. G. Powers (2008). A Description of the Advanced Research WRF Version 3.
- Sooraj, K. P., P. Terray, and M. Mujumdar (2014). Global warming and the weakening of the Asian summer monsoon circulation: assessments from the CMIP5 models. *Climate Dynamics*. DOI 10.1007/s00382-014-2257-7
- Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.) (2013). IPCC, 2013: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp, doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.
- Stowasser, M., H. Annamalai, and J. Hafner (2009). Response of the South Asian Summer Monsoon to Global Warming: Mean and Synoptic Systems. *Journal of Climate*. 22, 1014-1036.
- Thompson, G., P. R. Field, R. M. Rasmussen, and W. D. Hall (2008). Explicit Forecasts of Winter Precipitation Using an Improved Bulk Microphysics Scheme. Part II: Implementation of a New Snow Parameterization. Monthly Weather Review. 136, 5095-5115.
- Trenberth, K. E., A. Dai, R. M. Rasmussen, and D. B. Parsons (2003), The changing character of precipitation. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society.* 84, 1205.
- Turner, A. G and H. Annamalai (2012). Climate change and the South Asian summer monsoon. Nat Clim Change. 2 pp. 587-595.
- Tyagi, A., P. G. Asnani, U. S. De, H. R. Hatwar, and A. B. Mazumdar (2012). The Monsoon Monograph (Volume 1 and 2). *India Meteorological Department, Report.*
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2012). World Population 2012. www.unpopulation.org.
- Wallace, J. and P. Hobbs (2006). Atmospheric Science: An Introductory Survey (2nd ed.). *Elsevier*. ISBN 0-12-732951-X.

- Webster, P. J., and J. Fasullo (2003) Monsoon: Dynamical Theory. Encyclopedia of Atmospheric Sciences. Eds. J. Holton and J. A. Curry. Academic Press, pp. 1370-1385.
- Westra, S., H. J. Fowler, J. P. Evans, L. V. Alexander, P. Berg, F. Johnson, E. J. Kendon, G. Lenderink, and N. M. Roberts (2014). Future changes to the intensity and frequency of short-duration extreme rainfall. *Rev Geophys* 52(2014), p. 2014RG000464.
- World Bank (2013). Turn Down the Heat: Climate Extremes, Regional Impacts, and the Case for Resilience. A report for the World Bank by the Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research and Climate Analytics. Washington, DC: World Bank. License: Creative Commons Attribution—NonCommercial–NoDerivatives3.0 Unported license.
- Yoon, J.H. and T.C. Chen (2005). Water vapor budget of the Indian monsoon depression. *Tellus A*, 57, 770-782.